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THE OLD CANNON FOUNDRY ABOVE GEORGE-
TOWN, D. C.,, AND ITS FIRST OWNER,
HENRY FOXALL.

Br MADISON DAYVIS.

{Read bofors the Sosicty, February 11, 1807.)

In the “Ilistory of Western Maryland,” by J. T.
Secharf, Vol. 1, pages 135 and 136, the following state-
ment is made concerning the condition of military
affairs in the province of Maryland at the outbreak of
the American Revolution:

“Great difficulty was experienced ail the beginning of the
war in obtaining supplies. The arsenal at Annpapolis was
almost empty. To overcome these difficulties, the Convention
gave encouragement and pratuities for the manufacture of
salipetre, materials for clothing, and munitions of =war
Powder-mills were erected, and Colonel Hughes, of Washing-
ton Connty, agreed to furnish cannon for the province, and
established a foundry on the Potomac River, one mile above
Georgetown, where the first cannon were made in this coun-
try. A portion of the old stone building still remains, while
broken fragments of cannon are at this time to be found in
the stream of water that fows at the base of the building.
Daniel and James Hughes, of the Antietam Iron Works in
Washington County, and John Yoast, of Georgetown, also
made cannon for the Revolution. BShells and eannon were
also made at Catoctin Furnace, in IFrederick County, by
James and Thomas Johnson, during the Revelution, and some
were used af the siege of Yorktown.™

These statements seem to have been made with almost

o reckless disrepard of historieal aceuraey. Some of

them are in the main troe; buf so far as they apply fo
I



= The Forall Cannon Founedry.

the eztablishment of cannon foundries at or near George-
town, they have only the flimsiest foundation. Never-
theless, they have been accepled as troe by so eminent
a scholar as Professor Bernard (. Steiner, librarian
of the Emoch Pratt Library, of Baltimore, Maryland,
who, in a paper entitled **Western Maryland in the
Revolution,”” published in Volome XX of the Johss
Huoplins University Studics, ropeats the account of the
Hughes cannon fonndry in the lollowing words:

“The first eannon said (o have been cast in this conotry
were made at the fonndey of Colonel Daniel Mughes, on the
Potomae River, one mile above Georgetown. A portion of
the building yet vemained in 1880, while broken fragments
of cannon were still to be found n the stream of water fow-
ing at the base of the buildine

Omitting all disenssion of the allegation of these two
writers that the first canmon made in this country were
turned out at the beginning of the Revolntionary War,
exeept to say that it iz probably incorrect,* as well as
of the further assertion that cannon werc made at Ca-
toetin Murnace by James and Thomas Johnson for the
use of the Revolutionary foreeg, which is also praob-
ably incorrect, but coneerning which I have not fally
informed myself, I propose to show that the story of
the Georgetown foundries, apreeable as it is to our loeal
pride, and however harmonions it may be with that
burning spirit of patriotic enthusiazm which permeated
the provinee of Maryland all through the period of the
Bevolution, and nowhere more thoronghly than in that
part of itz tervilory now comprehended in the Distriet

*In Harper’s “ Book of Facts” p, 147, it i3 said that cannon were
cast at Lynn, Muee, by Henry Leonard, in 1947, and st Ore's Foundry,
Bridgewater, in 1648, In 1735 the Hope Foandry was established in

Bhode laland, where six heavy connon erdered by the authoritics were
cast in 1775, The heaviest guna used at this time wore 18-pounders,
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of Columbia, is a myth, having, however, like most
myths, a germ of truth as its nueleus.

In the first place, the only streamns worthy of the
name emptyving inte the Potomae River that ean be sup-
posed to answer to the description given, are, first, the
little creek thal has its outlet near the terminus of the
old Potomae Canal, which is over two miles above
Heorgetown ; and, seeond, the creek, formerly Jmown as
Deep Branch and Mill Branch, now universally called
Foundry Braneh, lowing into the river at a point nearly
opposite the Three Sisters, a group of partly submerged
rocks just one mile above High Street in Georgetown.
The first of these streams is nnquestionably nof the one
to which Scharf and Steiner vefer, It is true that near
it iz an old slone building, and that this bnilding was
in a state of ruin in 1880; but the history of this strue-
tare is perfectly well known, and that it was ever used
for the making of eannon, either before or after the
Revolution, is ahsolutely beyond helief. Tts mission
was a more pacific one. It was built zoon after the
planting of Georgetown, as authorized by act of the
Assembly of Maryland in 1751, was used in the begin-
ning as a flouring-mill, and eontinued to be so nsed
down to a time within the memory of many of onr oldest
inhabitants. The old race may still be traced to its
source at the Little Falls; the avchitectural arrange-
ment of the building is utterly irreconcilable with its
nse for foundry purpoeses; within ifs walls may be
exactly located the places where the burrs were once
busily running; and I ain not sure but that half-buried
fragments of these stones, instead of broken cammnon,
are yvet observable in the approaches to the ermnbling
roin.®  The other stream—Deep, or Mill, or Foundry
Branch—is no doubt that to which Scharf and Steiner
make allusion. Tt is within the given distance from

* This structure is known as Fmls's Mill,
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Georgetown; it has near its hanks a ruined stone build-
ing; and it seems fo otherwize accord with the descrip-
tion given. But npon examination of the Marvland
and Distriet records, it is ascertained that none of the
land contignona to this brook ever belonged to or was
leased by any person of the name of Hughes, and going
back to the condemmation of the surrounding land in
1762, which iz early enough as a starting-point, the list
of owners does not include the name of Huoghes, It
seems to have been acquired and from time 1o lime
Leansferred by a nuwmber of dilferent persons repre-
senting families still well konown in Marvland and
Georgelown — Murdoek, Lingan, Thompson, Bayly,
Deakinsg, Tillotson and others—until 18300 and several
vears therealter, when three or fonr tracts, morc par-
tienlarly conmected with the subject of this paper, were
purchazed by Henry oxall, coneerning whom rmore will
be said later on. Tf a foundry had been established
at this point in the days of the Revolution, certainly the
eround on which it #tood would have been held by the
projector either as owner or lesses.

In the second place, no local tradition points to the
exizstence of a cannon foundry anywhere near George-
town during the period of the Revolution; no writers
except those above mentioned make any referemee to
such an estahlishment; and there are mo remaing or
ruing in existence to give the appearance of prohability
to the story other than those to be hereafter deseribed,
and whose later origin can be easily established. There
may, indeed, have been found ag late as 1880 along the
banks of the little ¢reck some pieces of cannon; buf the
guns from which these fragments came were not cast
in the davs of seventy-six: they were the imperfect
product of a manufactory started nearly a quarter of a
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century later, and which continued in the same general
line of work for fifty years afterward.®

Besides the foregoing reasons, the unsuitability of a
spot on the Potomac River one mile ahove Georgetown
as the location of a cannon foundry, af the beginning
of the Revolution, may be reasonably urged. The place
was quite distant from the sourcez of supply of fucl,
lime, and iron ore; the river above was not navigable;
the Potomae Canal existed only in the prophetic hrain
of its great originator, George Washington; and the
cost of wagoning pig-iron from the furnaces where it
was made, wounld have heen enormousz, It would have
been infinitely preferable to establish a cannon foundry
farther west in Maryland, or at some other point, where
iron ores existed, where the materials nsed in fluxing
them were in close contiguity, and whence the finished
product of the concern conld have been more readily
and economically conveyed to the east and south, where
the operalions of the impending war were more likely
to be earried on. And this fact was obvious to the
business men of that day; for we find that tliree iron
manufactories, with the advantages referred to, had
already been founded in Maryland—one known as
snowden’s Iron Works, between Bladensburg and Bal-
timore; one near Frederick, called the Catoctin For-
nace; and the other at Elizabethtown, afterwards
Hagerstown, quite well known as the Antietam Iron
Works.t

* The writer of this paper remembers having seen at the place men-
tioned, when he was a lad, several pieces of a cannon that had burst
in testing. He was informed by his father, thut the exploded gFun hnd
been cast in the year 1850, when James Mavnedier Mason, executor of
General Johm Mason, was superintending the operations of the nefghbor-
ing foundry.

t Prior to the Revolotion there wus o smelting and iron-founding
establishment doing business at Colchester in Fairfax County, Va,,
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A still forther reason against the correctness of the
story under digecuzsion lies in the fact that one of the
proprietors of the Antietam establishment was Daniel
Hughes, the man who is said to have built and earried
on the cannon foundry pear Georgetown; and in the
additional fact that he and his partner, Samuel Hughes,
(not James Hughes as Scharf erraneonsly calls him,)
at the very incipiency of the war, patriolically pro-
posed 1o enter upon the manulacture of canmon for
the provinee, at the Antietam works, and thereupon
actually began the work under a contract with the
Comneil of Safety. Tt further appears that they were
inexpericneed in the making of ordnance, and naturally
there wag some delay and more or less of fallure in
earrying out their agreement.” For example, allbough
their contract was made long before the close of the
vear 1775, it was mnot until the latter part of Mareh,
1776, that they had been able to produee a single gun;
and even then the pioce was found on trial to be de-
fective, notwithstanding the confident predictions of
the makers. The following letter ns to this matter,
dated March 22, 1776, from Mr. William Lux, of Balti-
more, to the Council of Bafety, iz quite interesting:

“Mr. Fushes cast one 13-pounder on Monday, and it was
bored. He expected to have four ready last might, and begs
to have some person sent up to prove them, that if any fault
be found, he may rvemedy it before he proceeds too far. He

near the mouth of Qecoquan Creel, the foundstion walls of the stroe-
ture being atill traceable; but the building itaelf, as well as the villags
around it, has long zinee disappeared. The selebrated Ceorge Masom,
who lved st Gunston Hall, about tyenty miles below Georgetown, on
the Potomae, neat Colehestor, in one of hiz letters, sugrested that thia
foundry might be used for the supply of cannon fo Lthe American Army;
hut there is no evidence that it ever was 2o ased,

# For refergnees to this comtract, see  American Archives,” Fourth
Berias, vol. §, pages 463, 504, 1604, and vol. &, page 12506,



